FILED Court of Appeals Division I State of Washington 10/27/2020 11:50 AM

FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 10/27/2020 BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

99158-8

No. 78543-5-I

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION I, OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

SCARSELLA BROTHERS, INC.,

Petitioner,

v.

FLATIRON CONSTRUCTORS, INC., et al.,

Respondents.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

Meghan A. Douris, WSBA #44495 Ryan M. Gilchrist, WSBA #50629 Oles Morrison Rinker & Baker, LLP One Convention Place 701 Pike Street, Suite 1700 Seattle, WA 98101 (206) 623-3427 Philip A. Talmadge, WSBA #6973 Talmadge/Fitzpatrick 2775 Harbor Avenue SW Third Floor, Suite C Seattle, WA 98126 (206) 574-6661

A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Petitioner Scarsella Brothers, Inc. ("Scarsella") seeks review of the

Court of Appeals decision terminating review set forth in Paragraph B.

B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

The Court of Appeals, Division I, unpublished opinion was filed on

September 28, 2020. It is set forth in the Appendix at pages A-1 through

A-30.

C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW¹

1. Where Scarsella was compelled to litigate to obtain a recovery of \$2.7 million on its breach of contract, bond, and retainage lien foreclosure claims, was it entitled to an award of its attorney fees under applicable equitable and statutory principles?

2. Was Scarsella is entitled to prejudgment interest on the \$2.7 million, a liquidated sum, where Flatiron had the prolonged use value of Scarsella's money?

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Division I's opinion is largely correct, albeit brief, in its recitation

of the facts and procedure in this case. Op. at 3-5. Certain facts pertinent

to Scarsella's issues for this Court bear emphasis.

This case results from Flatiron Constructors, Inc's, ("Flatiron"),

failure to pay its subcontractor, Scarsella, for its work. Scarsella performed

¹ Scarsella disagrees with Division I's treatment of its contractual, extra work, and *quantum meruit* claims, but it focuses this petition on Division I's treatment of the fee and prejudgment interest issues.

earthwork for Flatiron on the I-405 toll lane expansion project (the "Project"), owned and operated by the Washington State Department of Transportation ("WSDOT"). Scarsella completed its contract work and submitted monthly payment applications. Flatiron directed Scarsella to do extra work, to fix Flatiron's design errors and to correct problems caused by Flatiron and other subcontractors. Scarsella included the extra work in its monthly pay applications.

Two years into the Project, Flatiron stopped paying Scarsella for contract work and then conjured a multi-million-dollar counterclaim alleging Scarsella delayed the Project to support its breach of contract.

The trial court found Flatiron breached its contract by failing to pay Scarsella more than \$2.7 million for contract work and by delaying the Project. The court also found Flatiron's \$10.8 million counterclaim without merit. Nevertheless, the trial court denied Scarsella a fee award or prejudgment interest on the \$2.7 million Flatiron wrongfully withheld.²

The trial court erroneously ruled "it would be inequitable to declare Scarsella to be the prevailing party, when the \$2,731,437.97 that Scarsella is no more than what Flatiron has recognized as being due to Scarsella, but

² Subsequent to the entry of judgment, Scarsella was paid nearly \$760,000 of funds Flatiron retained from its subcontractors like Scarsella. That payment would not have occurred but for Scarsella's successful efforts in the litigation.

for the parties' dispute." CP 2327. But, in fact, Flatiron withheld \$2,731,437.97 based on its ultimately meritless delay counterclaim. *See, e.g.*, CP 1303; Ex. 1257, ¶ 56.³ It argued at trial that it owed Scarsella *nothing*. Indeed, it argued that Scarsella owed it money as noted above. Flatiron flatly told Scarsella "it would not pay Scarsella unless Scarsella sued Flatiron." CP 1663. But for this lawsuit, Flatiron and its sureties would not have paid Scarsella the \$2.7 million. They *forced* Scarsella to sue to recover what was due to Scarsella from them. As a result of the lawsuit, Scarsella recovered \$2,731,437.97 on breach of contract from Flatiron and its sureties, and Flatiron recovered nothing.

E. ARGUMENT FOR ACCEPTING REVIEW

(1) <u>Scarsella Is Entitled to an Award of Attorney Fees Against</u> <u>Flatiron</u>

The trial court here erred in denying Scarsella a fee award from Flatiron under any of the multiple theories for recovery of fees present here.⁴

³ "Due to the withholding of payment pursuant to ongoing disputes...not all of the approved payable amounts [had] been paid to Scarsella.") Ex. 1257, ¶ 150 ("These amounts [\$2,741,886.40] would be payable if not for Flatiron's withholding pursuant to ongoing disputes, including the dispute regarding Scarsella's liability for delays to the Project."

⁴ Scarsella has *three* grounds for such an award. If it prevails on *any* of the three it is entitled to fees at trial and on appeal. The statutes at issue here do not constitute an exclusive remedy for fees for the same reasons this Court concluded in *King County v. Vinci Constr. Grands Projets/Parsons RCI/Frontier-Kemper, JV*, 188 Wn.2d 618, 627-32, 398 P.3d 1093 (2017) that RCW 39.04.240 did not abrogate the common law fee remedy afforded by *Colorado Structures*.

Division I held that the trial court was correct in determining that Scarsella was not the "prevailing party" in securing a \$2.7 million judgment, even though that analysis is not required under the *Olympic Steamship* equitable exception nor under RCW 39.08.030. Where the prevailing party analysis is required under RCW 39.04.250/RCW 39.76.040, the court misapplied it. Review is merited. RAP 13.4(b).

(a) <u>Scarsella Is Entitled to Fees under RCW 39.08.030</u>

The trial court denied Scarsella's request for attorney fees under RCW 39.08.030, CP 2320, and Division I agreed, again concluding that Scarsella did not prevail on its bond claim. Op. at 24. But it erred because RCW 39.08.030(1)(b) *nowhere* requires a party to formally "prevail" to recover from sureties.⁵ *See* Appendix. Review is merited. RAP 13.4(b)(2).

The statute allows recovery of fees from the defendant contractor and/or its sureties. *Kellogg v. Nelson*, 146 Wash. 572, 575, 264 Pac. 15 (1928). This Court has indicated that the purpose of the fee provision in RCW 39.08.030(1)(b) is to prevent sureties from using their superior financial position to litigate and thereby frustrate payment to contractors. *Brear v. Wash. State Highway Comm'n*, 67 Wn.2d 308, 316, 407 P.2d 423

⁵ In determining legislative intent this Court looks to the actual plain language of the statute as the "bedrock principle" of interpretation. *Federal Home Loan Bank of Seattle v. Credit Suisse Securities (USA) LLC*, 194 Wn.2d 253, 258, 449 P.3d 1019 (2019).

(1965) ("Corporate sureties may desire to litigate certain issues for reasons beyond the potential losses involved in the particular case before the court because the contract provisions and procedures may become very important with regard to other potential claims.").

The statute's express language does not require a prevailing party analysis. The only requirements for an award under the statute are that a surety contests the right to recover under the bond and a claimant litigates to get paid on the surety's bond, as Scarsella was required to do here. An award of fees to a subcontractor is *mandatory*, as the "shall" language in the statute evidences. *Diamaco, Inc. v. Mettler*, 135 Wn. App. 572, 574, 145 P.3d 399 (2006), *review denied*, 161 Wn.2d 1019 (2007); *Campbell Crane* & *Rigging Servs., Inc. v. Dynamic Int'l AK, Inc.*, 145 Wn. App. 718, 727, 186 P.3d 1193 (2008).⁶

⁶ To satisfy the requirement that the surety did not act in adverse manner to the claimant to contest the obligation to pay, the surety need only deny the allegations in the claimant's complaint, Diamaco, 135 Wn. App. at 577, or fail to unconditionally pay the claimant. U.S. Filter Distrib. Group Inc. v. Katspan, Inc., 117 Wn. App. 744, 750, 72 P.3d 1103 (2003). This is not a case like Lakeside Pump & Equipment, Inc. v. Austin Constr. Co., 89 Wn.2d 839, 576 P.2d 392 (1978), where the surety did not answer the claimant's complaint. Here, there is no doubt that the sureties fully adopted Flatiron's active effort to resist paying the \$2.7 million; they stipulated to that fact. CP 287-89 ("The sureties contend that the potential liability of the Sureties in the Construction Dispute Trial is derivative of the potential liability of their bond principals, Scarsella and Flatiron. In short, it is the position of the Sureties that they will only be liable if, and to the extent, their respective principals are determined to be liable for their obligations secured by the bonds."). The sureties denied coverage to Scarsella by failing to pay it throughout the lengthy course of this litigation, never offering to pay Scarsella what it was due from Flatiron, although Flatiron admitted it owed Scarsella money. Ex. 1257, ¶¶ 56, 150. The sureties were adverse to Scarsella.

Division I's analysis of RCW 39.08.030(1)(b), erroneously adds a requirement not found in the statute, is contrary to well-recognized authorities, and undercuts the protection of RCW 39.08 for contractors statewide. Review is merited. RAP 13.4(b)(1, 2, 4).

(b) <u>Scarsella Is Entitled to Fees under RCW</u> <u>39.04.250/39.76.040, the Prompt Payment Act</u>

The trial court ruled Scarsella was not entitled to attorney fees and costs under RCW 39.04.250/RCW 39.76.040, the Washington Prompt Payment Act. CP 2320. The trial court ruled neither party prevailed on its own claim. CP 2324. This is inconsistent with the trial court's own findings.⁷ Scarsella prevailed on the same damages, on three separate grounds, relating to two separate sources of possible payment: breach of contract, for \$2,731,437.97 against Flatiron generally; and foreclosure of lien against performance and payment bond, for \$2,731,437.97 against the sureties.

Division I also concluded that Scarsella was not the prevailing party under the Prompt Payment Act because Flatiron was entitled to withhold the funds from Scarsella by statute. Op. at 22-23. It erred because Scarsella was, in fact, the prevailing party below and Flatiron's authority to withhold

⁷ The trial court found for Scarsella on its breach of contract and bond claims. CP 1317-18, 1321-22; RP 3942 ("I have concluded that for Scarsella's claim, it can be granted, and it has been proved only insofar as Flatiron has agreed that amounts are owing...").

funds in good faith does not excuse it from paying interest and fees on funds wrongfully withheld. As with RCW 39.08.030, RCW 39.04.250 provides that a contractor is entitled to interest on any funds wrongfully withheld by a contractor from a subcontractor. RCW 39.04.250(3). If the subcontractor is compelled to bring an action to collect that interest, it is entitled to an award of fees if it prevails in the collection of interest, regardless of the state of mind of the withholding contractor.

The attorney fee provisions of the Prompt Payment Act have not been construed by this Court and only two Court of Appeals cases address those fee provisions. In *Thompson v. Peninsula Sch. Dist. No. 401*, 77 Wn. App. 500, 892 P.2d 760 (1995), Division II held that the school district in an action involving the failure to timely pay prevailing wages on a school fields project, despite a reasonable defense to doing so, mandated that the district pay interest on the wages not fully paid, and RCW 39.76.040 required payment of the contractor's fees as well. *Id.* at 506-07. In *Basin Paving Co. v. Mike M. Johnson, Inc.*, 107 Wn App. 61, 27 P.3d 609 (2001), *review denied*, 145 Wn.2d 1018 (2002), the contractor was denied added compensation and was not a prevailing party under RCW 39.04.240/RCW 39.76.040. Neither case is particularly illuminating on the prevailing party question so that a resort to more general treatment of when a party "prevails" is appropriate.⁸

Charitably put, Washington jurisprudence defining what constitutes a prevailing party is a hash that requires this Court to give it clear definition. While not a "sexy" topic, the question of the entitlement to fees is an important one, often involving tens of thousands of dollars of more. Unlike the merits of a controversy, however, courts all too often give fee issues short shrift. *Mahler v. Szucs*, 135 Wn.2d 398, 434, 957 P.2d 632 (1998) ("Courts must take an *active* role in assessing the reasonableness of fee awards, rather than treating cost decisions as a litigation afterthought.") (Court's emphasis.) And Division I's analysis does not help to clear up the confusion in this area of the law. Op. at 19-22.

In general, a prevailing party is "the party in whose favor a final judgment is rendered." RCW 4.84.330. Similarly, this Court stated in *Riss v. Angel*, 131 Wn.2d 612, 633-34, 934 P.2d 669 (1997) that "in general, a prevailing party is who receives an affirmative judgment in his or her favor." *See also, Crest, Inc. v. Costco Wholesale Corp.*, 128 Wn. App. 760,

⁸ Flatiron claimed below that this Court in *Elcon Construction, Inc. v. Eastern Washington University*, 174 Wn.2d 157, 273 P.3d 965 (2012), implicitly acknowledged that attorney fees under RCW 39.76.011 are specifically on prevailing as to the associated statutory claims. Flatiron Br. at 29-30. Not so. In *Elcon, all* of the petitioner's claims were denied, including its claim for attorney fees. 174 Wn.2d at 171. The Court made no ruling, implicit or otherwise, as to whether a party prevailing on an RCW 39.76.011 interest claim is entitled to attorney fees when that same party did not prevail overall.

772, 115 P.3d 349 (2005). The trial court recognized this standard. CP 2321. There is no question here that Scarsella received a judgment in its favor, albeit not in as great an amount as it sought. But that does not detract from its status as the prevailing party.⁹ And it is equally clear that Flatiron would have retained the \$2.7 million contract payments plus the \$760,000 retainage but for Scarsella's lawsuit.

Despite that simple formulation, Washington courts have developed often conflicting principles for departing from it. Some cases note that if neither party wholly prevails, then the party who *substantially* prevails is the prevailing party. That determination turns on the extent of the relief awarded to the parties on their respective claims. *Crest, Inc.*, 128 Wn. App. at 772. In some instances, courts offset fees incurred by parties recovering on claims against those incurred by parties recovering on cross-claims. *Transpac Development, Inc. v. Oh*, 132 Wn. App. 212, 219-20, 130 P.3d 892 (2006); *Marassi v. Lau*, 71 Wn. App. 912, 915-16, 859 P.2d 605 (1993).¹⁰ In even other instances, our courts have held that if both parties

⁹ "A party need not recover its entire claim in order to be considered the prevailing party." *Silverdale Hotel Assocs. v. Lomas & Nettleton Co.*, 36 Wn. App. 762, 774, 677 P.2d 773, *review denied*, 101 Wn.2d 1021 (1984).

¹⁰ The divisions of the Court of Appeals have sniped at each other over the applicable rule. Division I criticized Division III's refusal to apply its *Transpac/Marassi* offset rule in *Hertz v. Riebe*, 86 Wn. App. 102, 106, 936 P.2d 24 (1997). *Transpac*, 132 Wn. App. at 218-19; *JDFJ Corp. v. Int'l Raceway, Inc.*, 97 Wn. App. 1, 9, 970 P.2d 343 (1999). *See also, Hawkins v. Diel*, 166 Wn. App. 1, 269 P.3d 1049 (2011) (Division III's treatment of *Hertz*).

prevail on substantial aspects of the case, there is no prevailing party at all. *American Nursery Products, Inc v. Indian Wells Orchards*, 115 Wn.2d 217, 235, 797 P.2d 477 (1990); *Sardam v. Morford*, 51 Wn. App. 908, 911, 756 P.2d 174 (1988); *Rowe v. Floyd*, 29 Wn. App. 532, 629 P.2d 925 (1981). There is no clear cut standard for deciding when these formulations for departing from the general rule adopted by this Court in *Riss*.

Even under the most extreme formulation of rule (both parties prevail – no fees), however, there are ample grounds to support the assertion that Scarsella prevailed. Flatiron forced Scarsella to sue and pursue lengthy and costly litigation to recover \$2,731,437.97. Scarsella secured \$760,000 from the retainage post-judgment. Scarsella also defended and defeated Flatiron's counterclaim that sought in excess of \$10.8 million in damages. Flatiron *admitted* it refused to pay without a lawsuit. Scarsella prevailed.

Simply put, Washington case law is inconsistent on identifying a prevailing or substantially prevailing party, "distinct and severable" contract claims, or how "substantial" the result must be for parties not to recover fees. As to that specific aspect of RCW 39.76.040, this Court should grant review to resolve inconsistencies in Washington law. RAP 13.4(b)(1, 2, 4).

(c) <u>Scarsella Is Entitled to Olympic Steamship Fees</u> against Both Flatiron and the Sureties Because It <u>Was Forced to Bring Suit to Recover the Benefit of</u> <u>the Bond</u>

The trial court denied Scarsella's claim for attorney fees under the *Olympic Steamship* exception to the American Rule on fees because it erroneously determined that Scarsella was not the "prevailing party" against Flatiron. CP 2328. Division I agreed, confining its lackadaisical "analysis" to a single paragraph. ("Because we determined Scarsella is not the prevailing party, it is not entitled to recovery under *Olympic Steamship*."). Op. at 24-25. *Olympic Steamship* does not require an insured to "prevail;" that decision *only* requires an insured to file suit to successfully obtain the benefit of the surety bond, which Scarsella did here. Division I's opinion contravenes this Court's jurisprudence applying this equitable principle. Review is merited. RAP 13.4(b)(1).

This Court has recognized an equitable exception to the American Rule on fees "[w]hen insureds are forced to file suit and obtain the benefit of their insurance contract, they are entitled to attorneys' fees." *Olympic Steamship Co., Inc. v. Centennial Ins. Co.,* 117 Wn.2d 37, 53, 811 P.2d 673 (1991). *Accord, McGreevy v. Or. Mut. Ins. Co.,* 128 Wn.2d 26, 35-36, 904 P.2d 731 (1995) (recognizing *Olympic Steamship* as an equitable exception to the American Rule). This principle applies as well to claims against

sureties. *Colo. Structures, Inc. v. Insurance Co. of the West*, 161 Wn.2d 577, 598, 167 P.3d 1125 (2007). "[T]he relative positions of the contractor and the surety compel, pursuant to *Olympic Steamship*, an award of attorney fees when the surety wrongfully denies coverage." *Id.* at 626. *See also, Vinci*, 188 Wn.2d at 625-26 (sureties' argument that *Colorado Structures* should be overruled rejected by this Court).

None of these cases issued by this Court require an analysis of whether the insured or bond claimant was a "prevailing party." The *only* questions are whether the surety denied coverage and the bond claimant was forced to litigate to be paid. The adversity or forced-to-litigate element is satisfied when a surety adopts the entirety of the contractor's defenses against breach as here, making the breach claim and the bond claim essentially indistinguishable. As this Court noted in *Colorado Structures* when the contractor is required to seek a "ruling regarding the meaning of the parties' contract," it is a coverage dispute. 161 Wn.2d at 606. Division I erroneously condoned the addition of a prevailing party element to this Court's *Olympic Steamship* analysis, an element this Court has *never* adopted. That requires review by this Court. RAP 13.4(b)(1).

Here, the sureties refused to pay Scarsella under Flatiron's bond. Scarsella sued the sureties, and ultimately the trial court ruled that "Scarsella is entitled to recovery against Flatiron and the Defendant Sureties" for \$2,731,437.97. CP 1321-22. As such, Division I erred in adding the requirement that a trial court undertake a separate "prevailing party" analysis. Review is merited. RAP 13.4(b).

(2) <u>Division I Erred in Denying Scarsella's Request for</u> <u>Prejudgment Interest</u>

Division I erred when it denied Scarsella prejudgment interest based on the Prompt Payment Act, or common law prejudgment interest principles.

(a) <u>Scarsella Is Entitled to Interest under the Prompt</u> <u>Payment Act</u>

The trial court found that "Flatiron [and the Defendant Sureties are] statutorily exempt from having to pay prejudgment interest on the amount that it withheld pursuant to the parties' dispute" because Flatiron prevailed on Scarsella's Prompt Payment Act claims. CP 2328-29. That court ignored Scarsella's common law right to prejudgment interest.

As befits its name, the Prompt Payment Act is designed to encourage general contractors and their sureties to quickly pay subs.¹¹ The statute

¹¹ RCW 39.04.250/RCW 39.76.040 were enacted in Laws of 1992, Ch. 223 that dealt with both statutory retainage and prompt payment. SHB 1736 recognized "[t]here [was] no requirement in Washington that funds paid for a construction project to the person in charge of the project be used to pay for the materials or labor used in the project," and sought to establish a method "to force payment to contractors, subcontractors, materials suppliers, or persons providing labor or services for a project." House Bill Report, HB 1736. The Legislature's intent was to benefit subcontractors by compelling general contractors to pay them for services rendered in connection with construction projects.

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