FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 11/30/2020 10:41 AM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

No. 99158-8

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

SCARSELLA BROTHERS, INC.,

Appellant

v.

FLATIRON CONSTRUCTORS, INC., et al.

Respondents.

FLATIRON CONSTRUCTORS, INC.'S ANSWER TO SCARSELLA BROTHERS, INC.'S PETITION FOR REVIEW

GROFF MURPHY PLLC Michael P. Grace, WSBA #26091 Evan A. Brown, WSBA #48272 300 East Pine Street Seattle, WA 98122 Ph. (206) 628-9500 Fx. (206) 628-9506 E. <u>mgrace@groffmurphy.com</u> <u>ebrown@groffmurphy.com</u>

Attorneys for Respondents

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

Scarsella does not argue that there are any constitutional issues presented by this case. Rather, it argues broadly that review is warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2), and (4) because, in its view, the Court of Appeals erred in its application of the law by affirming the trial court's denial of Scarsella's claims for (A) attorney fees and (B) prejudgment interest. For the reasons described below, this Court should deny Scarsella's petition.

A. Given the Facts of this Case, the Court of Appeals Correctly Affirmed the Trial Court's Denial of Attorney Fees to Scarsella

Scarsella argues that the Court of Appeals erred in affirming the trial court's denial of attorney fees on grounds that Scarsella did not prevail. It asks this Court to review the issue on grounds that it should have been awarded attorney fees (1) under RCW 39.08.030 even though it did not prevail in the litigation; (2) under RCW 39.04.250 and RCW 39.76.040, even though it did not seek fees under those statutes and did not prevail in its statutory withholding claims; and (3) under *Olympic Steamship Co., Inc. v. Centennial Ins. Co.,* 117 Wn.2d 37, 811 P.2d 673

(1991), even though it did not prevail in any coverage dispute. None of these arguments provide suitable grounds for review.

Washington follows the American Rule with respect to attorney fees awards, "which provides that attorney fees are not recoverable by the prevailing party as costs of litigation unless the recovery is permitted by contract, statute, or some recognized ground of equity." *Leingang v. Pierce Cty. Med. Bureau, Inc.*, 131 Wn.2d 133, 143, 930 P.2d 288 (1997). Scarsella continues to assert that it prevailed simply because it received a monetary judgment. But both the trial court and the Court of Appeals determined that Scarsella did not prevail, despite the judgment, because it failed to prove its claims and only received a judgment to unwind Flatiron's proper withholding of payment following resolution of Flatiron's delay claim against Scarsella. *See* CP at 2324. Because the Court of Appeals correctly affirmed the trial court's denial of attorney fees to Scarsella, this Court should decline review.

1. The Court of Appeals Correctly Affirmed the Trial Court's Denial of Attorney Fees under RCW 39.08.030 Because Scarsella Did Not Prevail

Scarsella argues that the trial court and Court of Appeals erred in denying attorney fees under RCW 39.08.030(1)(b) because the statute "nowhere requires a party to formally 'prevail' to recover from sureties." Pet at 4 (emphasis removed). However, it is axiomatic that a party who does not prevail is not entitled to attorney fees. *See, e.g., McGreevy v. Oregon Mut. Ins. Co.,* 128 Wn.2d 26, 35 n.8, 904 P.2d 731 (1995); *Mt. Hawley Ins. Co. v. Zurich Am. Ins. Co.,* 8 Wn. App. 2d 1018, 2019 WL

1487726 at *9 (2019) (unpublished). Although RCW 39.08.030 does not expressly invoke a prevailing party standard, it is clear that the common law rule establishes it. *See id.*; *Leingang*, 131 Wn.2d at 143.

RCW 39.08.030 provides in relevant part that

in any suit or action brought against such surety or sureties by any such person or corporation to recover for any of the items specified in this section, the claimant is entitled to recover in addition to all other costs, attorneys' fees in such sum as the court adjudges reasonable.

RCW 39.08.030(1)(b). The statute has been interpreted and applied as providing for an attorney fees award only where the bond claimant prevails. *See, e.g., 3A Indus., Inc. v. Turner Const. Co.*, 71 Wn. App. 407, 419 n.3, 869 P.2d 65, 71 (1993); *Lakeside Pump & Equip., Inc. v. Austin Const. Co.*, 89 Wn.2d 839, 846, 576 P.2d 392 (1978). Scarsella cites to no authority supporting the idea that a claimant who does not prevail is entitled to attorney fees under the statute.

Scarsella asserted a claim against Flatiron's payment bond for \$5,680,598.94. CP at 1902. It was not able to prove the validity of that claim. In fact, the trial court found that Scarsella had *waived the right to litigate* its claim for payment of any amounts not recognized by Flatiron as earned. CP at 1317. The court entered judgment for Scarsella only in the amount Flatiron had properly withheld—an amount far less than Scarsella's bond claim. CP at 1304-05. Scarsella did not prove entitlement to the payment that it claimed and did not overcome Flatiron's defenses. Accordingly, it did not prevail. CP at 2324.

Scarsella focuses on the policy undergirding RCW 39.08.030's attorney fees provision, noting that "the purpose of the fee provision in RCW 39.08.030(1)(b) is to prevent sureties from using their superior financial position to litigate and thereby frustrate payment to contractors." Pet at 5. But Scarsella ignores the record, which shows that in fact *Scarsella* chose to rush to the courthouse to litigate an unsubstantiated claim before Flatiron's sureties could properly investigate that claim. CP at 1872-74. After it failed to prove that it was entitled to the payment it sought, it requested attorney fees under RCW 39.08.030 in an attempt to increase its take. Scarsella cites no support for the notion that this is the sort of "protection" RCW 39.08.030 was intended to provide.

The Court of Appeals recognized that in unusual cases like this one where a party receives a monetary judgment despite not prevailing as to the major issues in the case, a prevailing party analysis is appropriate to determine whether attorney fees are available under RCW 39.08.030. Op. at 19-20. To hold otherwise would frustrate, rather than further, the policy underlying RCW 39.08.030's attorney fees provision. This is not a case where a surety forced a bond claimant to litigate a justified bond claim—it is a case where the claimant forced litigation of an unjustified, unsupported bond claim before the sureties could even finish their investigation. Because Scarsella did not prevail in its litigation, the mere fact that it received a monetary judgment against Flatiron and its sureties does not entitle it to attorney fees for its failed effort. Because the Court of Appeals correctly affirmed the trial court, and its unpublished decision does not conflict with existing precedent, this Court should decline review.

2. Scarsella Neither Prevailed under RCW 39.04.250 or Chapter 39.76 RCW, Nor Requested Attorney Fees under Those Statutes

Scarsella's argument that it is entitled to attorney fees under RCW 39.04.250 and RCW 39.76.040 is similarly, but even more obviously, flawed. Scarsella not only failed to prevail in its litigation overall, it failed to prevail specifically as to its statutory payment withholding claims under RCW 39.04.259 and Chapter 39.76 RCW. Moreover, Scarsella did not even request attorney fees under those statutes. CP at 1623-24. Flatiron, in contrast, requested attorney fees under the statutes because it prevailed in its defense against the statutory actions. CP at 2355, 2359, 2360-62. Thus, even if the Court believes review of this issue is warranted, it is Flatiron rather than Scarsella that is entitled to an attorney fees award.

Both RCW 39.04.250 and RCW 39.76.040 are part of a statutory scheme governing payment withholding on public works construction projects.¹ *See generally* RCW 39.04.250; RCW 39.76.011-040. Both statutes provide for an attorney fees award to the party that prevails in an action brought under that statutory scheme. Notably, the scheme also includes "safe harbor" provisions that allow a contractor to withhold

¹ Throughout this litigation, Scarsella has consistently referred to these statutes as the "Prompt Payment Act." It does so again in its Petition. *E.g.*, Pet. at 13 ("As befits its name, the Prompt Payment Act . . "). The Act now codified at RCW 39.04.250 and Chapter 39.76 RCW had no such title or short title. *See* S.H.B. 1736, 52nd Leg., Reg. Sess. (1992).

payment in the event of a good faith dispute without violating the statutes. RCW 39.04.250(2); RCW 39.76.020(4).

RCW 39.04.250(3) provides that "[i]n any action for the collection of funds *wrongfully withheld*, the prevailing party shall be entitled to costs of suit and reasonable attorneys' fees." (Emphasis added.) The statute also contextually defines "wrongfully withholding the funds" as "with[olding] *in violation of this section*." RCW 39.04.250(3). Where a defendant proves it has not violated RCW 39.04.250—for example, because it withheld payment pursuant to a good faith dispute, RCW 39.04.250(2)—it is the prevailing party as to that action.

Chapter 39.76 RCW provides for the assessment of statutory interest penalties for untimely payment on public works projects under certain circumstances. *See* RCW 39.76.011-020. RCW 39.76.040 provides that "[i]n any action brought *to collect interest due under this chapter*, the prevailing party is entitled to an award of reasonable attorney fees." (Emphasis added.) This language mandates an award of attorney fees only to a party that prevails as to a claim for statutory interest penalties under Chapter 39.76 RCW. *See, e.g., Elcon Construction, Inc. v. Eastern Washington University*, 174 Wn.2d 157, 171, 273 P.3d 965 (2012) ("Because Elcon does not prevail on its statutory interest claim, we deny its request [for attorney fees under RCW 39.76.040]."). Where a defendant establishes that no interest may be collected under Chapter 39.76 RCW, the defendant has prevailed as to that claim.

Scarsella's argument for review is based on the fanciful assertion that "Scarsella was, in fact, the prevailing party below" even though the trial court denied its claims under RCW 39.04.250 and Chapter 39.76 RCW. Pet. at 6. The trial court clearly found and concluded that Flatiron had withheld payment of the judgment amount pursuant to a good faith dispute, had properly complied with all procedural requirements of the safe harbor provisions, and therefore had not violated the payment withholding statutes. CP at 1326-28. Scarsella suggests that this is somehow inconsistent with the legislative intent behind the statutes, ignoring that the Legislature included and enacted the safe harbor provisions to protect contractors disputing payment in good faith.

The trial court unambiguously denied Scarsella's claims for wrongful withholding of payment under RCW 39.04.250 and interest penalties under RCW 39.76.011. CP at 1328, 1331, 2791. As discussed *supra*, the trial court also determined that Scarsella did not prevail in the litigation overall. CP at 2324. Therefore, under the plain language of the statutes, Scarsella had no basis whatsoever for seeking attorney fees under either RCW 39.04.250(3) or RCW 39.76.040. Presumably, this is why it declined to do so below. *See* CP at 1623-24; Br. of Appellant at 58. Only now, after both lower courts have rejected its claims for attorney fees on other grounds, does it belatedly attempt to seek fees under these statutes.

If the Court believes interpretation of the attorney fees provisions of RCW 39.04.250 and RCW 39.76.040 warrants review, it should grant review only as to the Court of Appeals' denial of *Flatiron's* cross-appeal of the trial court's denial of attorney fees under those statutes. Unlike Scarsella, Flatiron properly moved for fees on this basis and assigned error on appeal. CP at 2354-72; Br. of Resp't at 5. The Court of Appeals denied Flatiron's cross-appeal as to this issue because it determined that Flatiron, like Scarsella, did not prevail overall. Op. at 21. But Flatiron did prevail as to the specific statutory actions Scarsella brought under RCW 39.04.250 for wrongful withholding and under RCW 39.76.011 for interest penalties. CP at 1331. Flatiron prefers finality to continued litigation, but if this Court wishes to review and clarify entitlement to attorney fees under these statutes, it should consider whether the Court of Appeals erred in denying Flatiron's cross-appeal.

3. The Court of Appeals Correctly Determined that Scarsella Was Not Entitled to Attorney Fees under *Olympic Steamship* Because It Did Not Prevail in a Coverage Dispute

Scarsella argued below that it is entitled to attorney fees under *Olympic Steamship*. The Court of Appeals correctly held that the trial court did not err in denying fees under this theory because Scarsella did not prevail in a coverage dispute. Op. at 24-25. Scarsella now asks this Court to review the issue on grounds that even substantially unsuccessful litigation in which bond coverage is not at issue should be rewarded as long as the claimant makes a bond claim and receives a judgment. This does not comport with the law. Review is not warranted under *Olympic Steamship* because Scarsella did not prevail in any coverage dispute.

Olympic Steamship provides an equitable exception to the American Rule. *King Cty. v. Vinci Constr. Grands Projets/Parsons RCI/Frontier-Kemper, JV*, 188 Wn.2d 618, 625, 398 P.3d 1093 (2017). The policy rationale underlying the *Olympic Steamship* rule is the same as that underlying RCW 39.08.030: an insured should not be forced to litigate a "justified action or claim" for which an insurer denies coverage, and thereby incur legal fees to receive the benefit of an insurance policy. *Olympic Steamship*, 117 Wn.2d at 53 (1991). This Court has extended the *Olympic Steamship* rule to allow attorney fees awards to prevailing plaintiffs asserting meritorious *performance bond* coverage claims. *Vinci*, 188 Wn.2d at 626.

Regardless of whether the rule in *Olympic Steamship* applies to *payment bond* sureties, it would not entitle Scarsella to attorney fees when it failed to prevail in any coverage dispute. "*Olympic Steamship* attorney fees are not awarded merely because an insurer challenges liability or damages." *Colorado Structures, Inc. v. Ins. Co. of the West*, 161 Wn.2d 577, 597–98, 167 P.3d 1125 (2007); *accord Solnicka v. Safeco Ins. Co. of Illinois*, 93 Wn. App. 531, 533, 969 P.2d 124 (1999). Rather, "[a]n award of attorney fees under *Olympic Steamship* is restricted to disputes where the insurer forces the insured to litigate coverage and then loses." *Vinci*, 188 Wn.2d at 630. The issues in this case did not involve issues of coverage under the payment bond, they involved whether Flatiron was liable to pay Scarsella and the amount of damages, if any. Scarsella states, without citation to any authority, that a coverage dispute exists any time "a

surety adopts the entirety of the contractor's defenses against breach as here, making the breach claim and the bond claim essentially indistinguishable." Pet. at 12. But where, as here, the contractor's defenses pertain not to issues of bond coverage but to underlying liability and damages, *Olympic Steamship* does not apply. To the extent Scarsella's waiver of its claims could be considered a coverage dispute, Flatiron and the sureties prevailed as to that issue. CP at 1317.

As with RCW 39.08.030, the equitable rationale underpinning *Olympic Steamship* does not apply on the facts of this case. Because Scarsella did not succeed in any coverage dispute, *Olympic Steamship* is inapplicable. As noted above, Flatiron's sureties did not force Scarsella to litigate this case—Scarsella chose to do so, and even hastily initiated its lawsuit before the sureties could properly investigate and respond to its bond claims. CP at 1873-74. Scarsella failed to overcome any of Flatiron's defenses, and its monetary judgment resulted solely from the unwinding of Flatiron's proper withholding of payment. The Court of Appeals' unpublished decision does not conflict with existing precedent, and review of this issue is unwarranted.

B. Under Existing Law, the Court of Appeals Correctly Affirmed the Trial Court's Decision to Deny Prejudgment Interest

Scarsella asks this Court to review the Court of Appeals' decision affirming the trial court's denial of prejudgment interest on the judgment amount of \$2,731,437.97. It argues that the Court of Appeals erred because (1) Scarsella somehow prevailed as to the statutory payment withholding claims the trial court expressly denied, and (2) its claim was liquidated, despite its ever-changing amount and Flatiron's inability to determine the proper amount with any certainty. Neither of these arguments has merit, and the Court should decline to review this issue.

1. Scarsella Is Not Entitled to Prejudgment Interest under RCW 39.04.250 or RCW 39.76.011 Because the Trial Court Correctly Denied Its Claims under those Statutes

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